

### **AGENDA**

# **SELECT COMMITTEE - LONELINESS AND SOCIAL ISOLATION**

Monday, 17th September, 2018, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Gaetano Romagnuolo

Swale 1 - Sessions House Telephone 03000 416624

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting in the meeting room

# Membership

Mr M A C Balfour, Mrs P M Beresford, Mr D L Brazier, Ms K Constantine, Ms S Hamilton, Mr A R Hills, Mrs L Hurst, Ida Linfield and Mr K Pugh (Chairman)

# **UNRESTRICTED ITEMS**

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

14:00	-	Mr Graham Gibbens (Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and
14:45		Public Health), Ms Diane Marsh and Mrs Clair Bell (Deputy
		Cabinet Members for Adult Social Care and Public Health) (Pages
		3 - 4)

15:00	-	Katie	Stewart	(Director	of	Enviror	nment,	Planni	ng and
15:45		Enforce	ement) &	Stephanie	Holt	-Castle	(Head	of Cou	untryside,
		Leisure	and Sport	t) (Pages 5 -	- 6)				

16:00	- Multi-Disciplinary Group (Pages 7 - 8)
16·45	

Appendix (Pages 9 - 38)

# **EXEMPT ITEMS**

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

At the end of the public session, Members of the Committee should remain in the meeting room for 20 minutes for summing up

Benjamin Watts General Counsel 03000 416814

Friday, 7 September 2018

# **Terms of Reference and Scope**

- 1. To put into context social isolation and loneliness, and to identify the groups of people who are particularly affected by social isolation and/or loneliness in Kent.
- 2. To investigate the impact of social isolation and loneliness on Kent's older residents.
- To investigate the extent to which KCC's current service provision and partnership working is effective in dealing with social isolation and loneliness amongst older people in Kent.
- 4. To recommend initiatives and strategies to prevent or reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness on Kent's older residents.

# **Loneliness and Social Isolation Select Committee**

# **Hearing 6**

# Monday 17th September 2018

### Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that Members may be interested to explore. All Members are welcome to ask these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee Chairman.

# **Themes and Questions**

Graham Gibbens, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health, Diane Marsh and Clair Bell, Deputy Cabinet Members for Adult Social Care and Public Health, Kent County Council

- Please introduce yourselves and provide an outline of the roles and responsibilities that your positions involve.
- What strategies and interventions is the Adult Social Care and Health Directorate implementing in order to prevent or reduce loneliness and social isolation amongst Kent's older residents?
- In your view, to what extent is KCC's current service provision and partnership working effective at preventing or reducing loneliness and social isolation amongst Kent's older population?
- In your opinion, what more can be done, if anything, to prevent or reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness on Kent's older residents?
- Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise with the Committee?



# **Loneliness and Social Isolation Select Committee**

# **Hearing 7**

# Monday 17th September 2018

### Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that Members may be interested to explore. All Members are welcome to ask these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee Chairman.

# **Themes and Questions**

Katie Stewart, Director of Environment, Planning and Enforcement, and Stephanie Holt-Castle, Head of Countryside, Leisure and Sport, Kent County Council

- Please introduce yourselves and provide an outline of the roles and responsibilities that your posts involve.
- What are the main causes leading to loneliness and social isolation amongst adults aged 65 and over?
- What are the negative impacts of loneliness and social isolation on these people?
- What strategies and interventions is the Growth, Environment and Transport Directorate implementing in order to prevent or reduce loneliness and social isolation amongst Kent's older residents?
- Please discuss the principles of 'place-based' approaches to tackling social isolation and loneliness
- In your view, what are the key challenges associated with preventing or reducing social isolation and loneliness amongst Kent's older adults?
- In what ways, if any, can the Directorate further contribute to prevent or reduce social isolation and loneliness in Kent?
- Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise with the Committee?



# **Loneliness and Social Isolation Select Committee**

# **Hearing 8**

# Monday 17th September 2018

### Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that Members may be interested to explore. All Members are welcome to ask these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee Chairman.

### **Themes and Questions**

- Cathy Bellman, Local Care Lead, Kent & Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)
- Nicola Cloughley, Health and Social Care Coordinator, Kent Community Health Foundation Trust
- Fiona Keyte, Social Prescribing Manager, Red Zebra
- Melinda May, Newly Qualified Social Worker, Kent County Council
- Lisa McFadyen, Senior Physiotherapist, Canterbury Rehabilitation Team, Kent Community Health Foundation Trust
- James Shaw-Cotterill, Project Manager, Kent & Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)
- Jenny Walsh, CEO, Red Zebra
- Debbie Williams, Case Officer, Kent County Council
- Please introduce yourselves and provide a brief outline of the roles and responsibilities that your posts involve.
- What initiatives and strategies are working particularly well to prevent or reduce the negative impacts of loneliness and social isolation on older people?
- In your opinion, to what extent is KCC's current service provision and partnership working effective at preventing or reducing loneliness and social isolation amongst Kent's older residents?
- In your view, what are the challenges associated with preventing or reducing social isolation and loneliness amongst older residents in Kent?
- In what ways can we best identify older people experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, loneliness or social isolation?

- In your opinion, what more can be done, if anything, to prevent or reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness on Kent's older residents?
- Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise with the Committee?



# **Evidence Review:** Loneliness in Later Life

# **Contents**

Κe	ey stats	2
1	Introduction	3
	Why loneliness?	3
	Why do we get lonely?	4
2	Measuring loneliness	4
	Measuring and quantifying loneliness	4
	Direct measures of subjective loneliness	4
	Multi-dimensional instruments to measure of loneliness	5
	Loneliness as part of wider well-being scales	6
3	Factors associated with loneliness in later life	7
	Other factors associated with loneliness	8
4	The impact of loneliness on older people	9
5	What works?	10
	Group activities	10
	Specialised groups targeting older people	11
	Community engagement	11
	One-on-one interventions	11
	Befriending	11
	Gatekeeping (Community Navigator or Wayfinder initiatives)	12
	Internet	12
	Interventions for special groups	13
	Men	13
	Government policy	14
6	What are the challenges and barriers?	14
	Difficulties in finding lonely older people	14
	Attitudes of older people	15
	Health and disability	15
	Transport	15

	Flexibility and choice	. 15
7	The future	
	What are the future trends?	
	Gaps in the evidence base	
	Scope for future research	. 16
Α	ppendix A: Social support	. 17
	Sources of social support	. 18
1	0 References	. 22

# **Key stats**

- Over 1 million older people say they always or often feel lonely.<sup>12</sup>
- Nearly half of older people (49% of 65+ UK) say that television or pets are their main form of company.<sup>3</sup>
- Loneliness can be as harmful for our health as smoking 15 cigarettes a day.<sup>4</sup>
- People with a high degree of loneliness are twice as likely to develop Alzheimer's as people with a low degree of loneliness.<sup>5</sup>
- 86% of over 65s say they are satisfied with their personal relationships. This is the lowest of all age groups.<sup>6</sup>
- Only 46% of over 65s said they spent time together with their family on most or every day, compared to 65-76% for other ages. 12% of over 65s said they never spent time with their family.<sup>7</sup>
- Over 65s also spent less time with friends: only 35% spent time with friends most or every day in the last 2 weeks, and 12% never did.<sup>8</sup>
- People who took part in more health-maintaining and independence-maintaining behaviours were less likely to feel isolated and more likely to feel that their community was a good one to grow old in.<sup>9</sup>
- Nearly half (49%) of all people aged 75 and over live alone.<sup>10</sup>
- 9% of older people feel trapped in their own home. 11
- 6% of older people (nearly 600,000) leave their house once a week or less. 12
- 30% say they would like to go out more often.<sup>13</sup>
- According to research for DWP, nearly a quarter (24%) of pensioners do not go out socially at least once a month.<sup>14</sup>
- Nearly 200,000 older people in the UK do not receive the help they need to get out of their house or flat.<sup>15</sup>
- 17% of older people have less than weekly contact with family, friends and neighbours.
- 11% have less than monthly contact.<sup>17</sup>
- 41% of people aged 65 and over in the UK feel out of touch with the pace of modern life and 12% say they feel cut off from society.<sup>18</sup>

# 1 Introduction

This review is a summary of available evidence from research on loneliness in later life and it is intended to serve as an evidence base and promote discussion on the topic. The review focuses on loneliness in the community.

### Why loneliness?

Loneliness and isolation, or social isolation, are often discussed together and even used interchangeably. While they are related, they are distinct concepts.

**Loneliness** can be understood as an individual's personal, subjective sense of lacking desired affection, closeness, and social interaction with others. Although loneliness has a social aspect, it is also defined by an individual's subjective emotional state. Loneliness is more dependent on the quality than the number of relationships.

**Social isolation** refers to a lack of contact with family or friends, community involvement, or access to services. <sup>19</sup> <sup>20</sup> <sup>21</sup>

It is possible to be lonely but not to be socially isolated - research shows that older people in large households and care homes are **more** likely to report loneliness. It is also quite possible to be socially isolated but not lonely. Some people who live on their own or in remote places may not feel or report loneliness.

To put it another way, "...an individual may be lonely in a crowd, socially contented while alone."22

Loneliness can be a temporary, recurrent, or persistent (chronic) state but social isolation does matter as it can be a risk factor for loneliness.<sup>23</sup> <sup>24</sup> It also affects a large number of older people:

Thirty-six per cent of people aged 65 and over in the UK feel out of touch with the pace of modern life and nine per cent say they feel cut off from society.<sup>25</sup> Half of all older people (about five million) consider the television as their main form of company.<sup>26</sup>

Only 46 per cent of people 65 and over said they spent time together with their family on most or every day, compared to 65-76 per cent for other ages. Twelve per cent of people 65 and over said they never spent time with their family.<sup>27</sup> People aged 65 and over also spent less time with friends: only 35 per cent spent time with friends most or every day in the last two weeks, and 12 per cent never did.<sup>28</sup>

Loneliness causes feelings of disconnectedness from others, and not belonging,<sup>29</sup> but it is not just an unpleasant experience. Persistent loneliness can have profound impacts on physical and mental health, and quality of life.

For example, loneliness can be as harmful for our health as smoking 15 cigarettes a day, <sup>30</sup> and people with a high degree of loneliness are twice as likely to develop Alzheimer's as people with a low degree of loneliness. <sup>31</sup>

These issues are discussed in more detail in the 'Impacts of loneliness' section below.

In our recent studies we have found that the three top concerns of older people were: bodily pain, loneliness and memory loss.<sup>32</sup>

# Why do we get lonely?

Research on twin and non-twin siblings suggests that loneliness is approximately 50 per cent inherited and 50 per cent environmental.<sup>33 34</sup> This means that a person's response to environmental triggers is only partly due to their social situation, and is also partly due to inherited factors. This helps to explain why some people are happy to be alone, and others are not (but other environmental factors such as upbringing also play a role). However, the fact that loneliness is not 100 per cent heritable means that it can be affected by changes to environmental conditions (such as interventions to reduce loneliness).

It is thought that loneliness is an adaptive indicator (self-defence mechanism), like pain or hunger, which signals that something is wrong and prompts the person experiencing it to correct the problem.<sup>35</sup>

Being alone has been (and can still be) a threat to survival because humans depend on one another for food, shelter, security, and so forth. As a highly social species, cooperation is needed to improve survival, and this requires trust, communication, planning, and working together.<sup>36</sup> Thus, loneliness may be essential for species survival, because like thirst and hunger, it prompts the person experiencing it to try to alleviate it.<sup>37</sup> It is when loneliness becomes chronic that it damages health and well-being.

# 2 Measuring loneliness

# Measuring and quantifying loneliness

Loneliness among older people has been quantified in a number of ways, from survey questions measuring subjective loneliness to validated multi-dimensional instruments, as well as making up part of wider measures of psychological health and well-being. This section discusses the different types of measures that are used in quantitative research.

### **Direct measures of subjective loneliness**

Surveys have consistently shown that around 6-13 per cent of older people report that they are often or always lonely.<sup>38</sup> These vary by question asked and methods used, but they are likely to underestimate the true extent of loneliness. Age UK (unpublished) surveys conducted between 2009 and 2015 have ranged from 6 to 10 per cent<sup>39 40</sup> and Wave 5 of the English Longitudinal Survey of Ageing (ELSA) where 8 per cent said they felt often lonely.<sup>41</sup>

Using the ELSA Wave 5 self-reported (often) lonely measure, Age UK has conducted (as yet unpublished) data analysis of the factors associated with loneliness in people in England aged 65 or over.

We identified as statistically significant a number of factors. The most important factors were:

- Health and disability
- Being widowed
- Living alone
- Age

and were able to weight them by their relative importance, thus allowing us to construct an index.

The research also found that - compared to the baseline categories of excellent health, married status, age 65-74 and a household size of more than one person - someone who reported to be in poor health is ten times more likely to feel lonely than someone who reported to be in excellent health.

One can even compare between factors and say, for example, that those who reported to be in poor health are 1.7 times more likely to feel lonely than those who reported to be in fair health.

Factor	Odds ratio
Health poor	10.1
Health fair	5.9
Widowed	3.0
Household size =1	2.6
Health good	2.9
Divorced/separated	1.7
age 75-79	0.7

This has now also been applied to identifying local and neighbourhood areas by their prevalence of loneliness. This research, applying the ELSA findings to the Census (2011), was conducted by Age UK's Chief Economist, Professor José Iparraguirre, and the Office for National Statistics. Age UK can now identify "hotspots" where the prevalence of loneliness is highest, not only at Local Authority level but now at neighbourhood level.

This means that we can identify average prevalence of loneliness at age 65+ in the following areas:

- All 6,971 Middle Layer Super Output Areas in England, which contain an average of about 2,500 older individuals (aged 65+) or 1,000 older households
- All 32,844 Lower Layer Super Output Areas (roughly 500 older people) and
- All 171,372 Output Areas in England (about 70-80 older people or 28-30 older households)

Age UK Research expects to publish a methodology paper for the ELSA research and also one, jointly with ONS – on the local statistics shortly.

Forthcoming research will explore the longitudinal aspects of loneliness, (changes over time) and give a clearer idea of transitions into and out of loneliness and the prevalence of sustained loneliness.42

### Multi-dimensional instruments to measure of loneliness

### De Jong-Gierveld Loneliness Scales

First published in 1985, the De-Jong Gierveld scale is an instrument for measuring loneliness, based on an 11 point scale. 43 Measuring subjective loneliness by drawing on a cognitive approach, this is based on two types of loneliness – emotional and social.

A six-item version of the scale was published in 2006 to make it easier to include in surveys where there is insufficient space for the 11 item scale.<sup>44</sup> This version of the scale has been used internationally by the United Nations.

#### **UCLA Loneliness Scales**

Another commonly used instrument for measuring loneliness is the UCLA Loneliness Scale, named after the University of California, Los Angeles, where it was originally developed to measure loneliness among college students. It was based around statements made by lonely people to describe their experience. First published in 1978, the most recent is the third version published in 1996. This version included wording revisions specifically designed to make it easier to administer in surveys of older people. The full version of the UCLA scale contains 20 items.

A three-item version of the scale was developed by Hughes *et al* from the University of Chicago for use in the 2002 US Health and Retirement Study, and has been replicated in ELSA.<sup>46</sup>

# Loneliness as part of wider well-being scales

Loneliness affects an individual's well-being and is included as a dimension in a number of other multi-dimensional instruments to measure this, or these include other dimensions which correlate closely. These include:

### Ryff Scales of Psychological Well-being

Ryff's scales of Psychological Well-being were designed to measure six theoretically motivated constructs of psychological well-being (e.g. autonomy and purpose in life).<sup>47</sup> The original questionnaire included 120 items, but reduced versions have been developed for between 18-120 items. ELSA uses a 43 item version which includes a question on loneliness.

### **CES-D** Depression

The CES-Depression scale is a commonly used scale looking at how the respondent felt over the past week, to measure depression. The main version has 20 items. ELSA uses an eight-item version of the CES-Depression scale.<sup>48</sup> This includes the question on loneliness in the past week.

### CASP-19

CASP-19 is a wide-ranging measure of quality of life in older age. It covers four domains – Control, Autonomy, Self-realisation and Pleasure.<sup>49</sup> It does not measure loneliness but provides data on variables associated with loneliness (e.g. 'my health stops me doing what I want to'). It is included in ELSA (the English Longitudinal Study on Ageing).

#### **WEMWBS**

The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale aims to measure two perspectives of mental well-being itself. These two perspectives are hedonic perspective (which focuses on the subjective experience of happiness and life satisfaction) and eudaimonic perspective (which focuses on psychological functioning, good relationships with others and self-realisation).

The appropriate measures should be chosen on the basis of the purpose and problem; it is important to think about the interpretation of the results and whether the measure is validated.

From here on, references to loneliness are of older people, unless otherwise stated.

# 3 Factors associated with loneliness in later life

We are undertaking a research project focusing on factors associated with being often lonely and the interrelation between factors. We will be undertaking analysis of loneliness prevalence rates by for example, older people in a/not in a relationship, older age groups, self-perceived health/financial status, just to mention a few.

Many existing studies, have found the following factors to be correlated with older people saying they feel lonely:

(Order of list does not reflect the strength of the association with loneliness.)

- Age
- Ethnicity and language
- Sex
- Living arrangements and marital status
- Geography
- Housing
- Health
- Income
- Providing informal care
- Sexual orientation

Age: The likelihood of expressing self-perceived loneliness increases with age. 50

**Gender**: Men and women are affected differently: older women are more likely to say they feel lonely than older men.<sup>51 52</sup>

**Living arrangements and marital status**: People who live on their own are more likely to say they are 'often' lonely.<sup>53</sup> Sixty-three per cent of adults aged 52 or over who have been widowed, and 51 per cent of the same group who are separated or divorced, report feeling lonely some of the time or often.<sup>54</sup> People's attitudes to death may affect their response to bereavement.<sup>55</sup> The experience of living alone appears to contribute towards being excluded from social relationships.<sup>56</sup>

**Housing**: Older people living in residential care report feeling more lonely than those in the community.<sup>57</sup>

**Geography**: Some studies indicate that living in a rural area correlates with loneliness;<sup>58</sup> however, this is a complex issue,<sup>59</sup> as various other studies suggest the opposite. For example, one study has shown that in rural areas, levels of loneliness decrease as population density increases.<sup>60</sup> Lonely people are more likely to be lonely if they live in a deprived urban area or an area in which crime is an issue.<sup>61</sup> And, being widowed and in poor health predicted loneliness in urban areas.<sup>62</sup> Age UK's exploratory analysis of ELSA data<sup>63</sup> has found that the incidence of older people who are 'often' lonely is slightly higher in urban than rural areas, though the difference is slight. More research is needed to unpick this.

**Health**: Health and disability play a role. Poor health, reduced mobility, cognitive impairment, and sensory impairment increase older people's chances of being lonely. <sup>64</sup> <sup>65</sup> <sup>66</sup>

Income: A direct correlation exists between low income and loneliness and isolation among older people.67

Providing informal care for others: There is no clear evidence of a relationship between the provision of informal care by older people and risk of being lonely. There is, however, limited evidence from Sweden that being an older carer is associated with a lower risk of loneliness, as caregivers in the study had a larger social network than those not providing informal care.<sup>68</sup>

However, a recent report for Carers' Week 2013 shows that 61 per cent of the carers surveyed found it difficult to maintain friendships as a result of their caring responsibilities. <sup>69</sup> However, this survey was not specific to older carers, with only 17 per cent of the sample aged 65 or over.

Ethnicity and language: There is evidence that ethnic minority elders may be among the most lonely.<sup>70 71</sup>

Sexual orientation: Gay men and lesbians seem to be at greater risk of becoming lonely and isolated as they age.<sup>72</sup>

Key transitions, which tend to occur in older age, can also trigger loneliness; these include retirement, becoming a carer, and bereavement. 73 Older people themselves say that they find it more difficult to create friendships in later life.<sup>74</sup>

### Other factors associated with loneliness

There is evidence that social exclusion plays a role in the reporting of feelings of loneliness. Although it cannot be claimed that social exclusion causes loneliness, it was found "that overall exclusion was a significant predictor of well-being and loneliness."<sup>75</sup> Moreover, evidence from ELSA 2002 and 2008 surveys indicates that social exclusion is characterised by seven domains i) social relationships; ii) cultural; iii) civic activities and access to information; iv) local amenities; v) decent housing and public transport; vi) common consumer goods; and vii) financial products. A comparison of results between 2002 and 2008 found that experiencing exclusion in three or more of these areas was associated with almost a three-fold increase in the risk of becoming lonely.<sup>77</sup>

A related concept is 'social detachment', in which people fail to participate in social activities. A longitudinal study<sup>78</sup> of ELSA data suggests four domains of participation: civic participation (membership of political party, trade union, neighbourhood watch, church, volunteering), leisure activities (education, arts, social or sports club, gym, etc.), cultural engagement (going to cinema, art gallery, theatre, etc.), and social networks (having or being in contact with friends, family, children).

The findings demonstrated that majority of older people are not detached from social life. However, a significant number are:

- 20 per cent detached from 3 or more domains
- 50 per cent detached from civic participation and leisure activities
- 5 per cent detached from social networks

Social detachment has similar risk factors for loneliness in later life as those posited above:

For example, people who were single, separated, divorced or widowed were more likely to be 'detached' than those living together as a couple. Those who were poorer, unhealthier, or with lower levels of education were more likely to be 'detached' from civic, leisure and cultural engagement.

Access to public or private transport has a significant impact on engagement/detachment. Barriers in the environment can contribute to feeling lonely, probably because they reduce mobility; snow and ice during winter time, long distances to services, lack of resting places, dangerous crossroads, noisy traffic and high curbs roughly doubled the probability of loneliness.<sup>79</sup>

Our own initial analysis indicates that wealth is the most consistent driver of movement into social detachment across domains: poorer individuals are more likely to move into social detachment than those who are richer, except in the social network domain.

A special example of community engagement is getting people from different generations to interact. Generally, interaction between younger and older people is low, and the majority of people in one study said that different generations find it hard to communicate outside of families. <sup>80</sup> In theory, interventions that support intergenerational interaction could improve community engagement and reduce loneliness.

# 4 The impact of loneliness on older people

As noted above, existing health conditions or impairments can lead to a curtailment of independence and can limit social roles, resulting in feelings of loneliness.<sup>81</sup> Conversely, chronic feelings of loneliness can result in deterioration of health and well-being, and a shorter lifespan.<sup>82</sup>

Feeling lonely has been shown to increase blood pressure and risk of cardiovascular diseases, <sup>83</sup> elevate cortisol and stress levels which weakens the immune system, <sup>84</sup> impair sleep quality (which causes memory problems) leading to negative effects on metabolic, neural and hormonal regulations, <sup>85</sup> and heighten feelings of depression, anxiety, and increase vulnerability. <sup>86</sup>

Self-perceived loneliness doubles the risk of developing Alzheimer's disease. <sup>87 88</sup> There is evidence that loneliness and social isolation are associated with reduced cognitive function, <sup>89</sup> while socially engaged older people experience less cognitive decline and are less prone to dementia. <sup>90</sup> It is thought that cognitive health is facilitated directly through enhanced brain stimulation, and indirectly through lowered stress reactions, <sup>91 92</sup> improved coping mechanisms, and healthy behaviours. <sup>93</sup>

Having weak social connections also carries a health risk: those with strong social connections have a 50 per cent increased likelihood of survival after an average follow-up time of 7% years. <sup>94</sup> On the other hand, nursing home residents who report feeling emotionally lonely die sooner than those who are not. <sup>95</sup>

It has been found that loneliness often relates to feelings of 'anger, sadness, depression, worthlessness, resentment, emptiness, vulnerability and pessimism'. <sup>96</sup>

Studies have also found that loneliness leads to poor lifestyle behaviours; for example, alcohol has been shown to be used by people in order to alleviate a sense of a meaningless life, depression, anxiety and loneliness. <sup>97 98</sup> Studies have also found a link with drug abuse and bulimia and loneliness.

Lonely adults are more likely to be overweight and smoke, <sup>99</sup> and are less likely to exercise. <sup>100</sup> There is a proven link between loneliness, depression and suicide. <sup>101</sup> <sup>102</sup>

But loneliness does not just directly affect health and well-being; it can also become a vicious circle: research has shown that lonely people are more likely to view social encounters with more cynicism and mistrust, <sup>103</sup> <sup>104</sup> <sup>105</sup> rate others and themselves more negatively, and expect others to reject them. <sup>106</sup> In addition, lonely people tend to adopt behaviours that increase their likelihood of rejection. <sup>107</sup> These beliefs and behaviours are referred to as 'maladaptive social cognition'.

# 5 What works?

There is a lack of robust and reliable evidence on the evaluation of services for older people in general and the evidence collated here is the best available.

Research shows that loneliness is not an immutable trait but rather can be improved (or worsened). Interventions that enhance a feeling of social connectedness can alter self and others' perceptions, improve the quality of social interactions, and reduce feelings of loneliness.

Interventions are often categorised in the literature in four ways, as attempts to: improve social skills; enhance social support; increase opportunities for social interaction; or address maladaptive social cognition (defined as behaviour that is counter-productive or interferes with everyday living).

A rigorous quantitative meta-analysis<sup>108</sup> suggests that certain interventions in all of these categories can be effective at reducing loneliness, regardless of age and other characteristics of the participants, but interventions that attempt to change maladaptive social cognition are the most effective.

However, studies of interventions we have found for older people in the UK are only of the type that try to increase opportunities for social interaction. It may be because these are the easiest and most cost-effective to implement (for reaching a larger number of people).

If schemes to target loneliness in older people are to be effective, they must involve older people at every stage, including planning, development, delivery and assessment. 109 110

It has been acknowledged too that interventions are more effective when they are tailored to the target group. For instance, one ESRC research study highlighted the crucial role of community centres for minority ethnic older women in 'offering a meeting point for sharing identity, language, culture and experiences.' <sup>111</sup> <sup>112</sup>

It is worth noting that interventions not specifically targeted at combating isolation and loneliness can still have a tangible positive effect on them.  $^{113}$   $^{114}$ 

Below is a summary of findings about the most common 'social interaction' interventions for older people. A discussion about social support networks and sources (but not interventions) is in Appendix A.

### **Group activities**

Group interventions target many people at once, so they may be more cost-effective than one-onone interventions. In addition, with a focus on the activity rather than 'loneliness', they can avoid a negative stigma and thus attract more participants.

# Specialised groups targeting older people

This is a very broad category, including services such as day centres, lunch clubs, social clubs, creative activities (arts and crafts, etc.), self-help and support groups, and health/exercise groups (including walking clubs).

Evaluations provide mixed results: some show improvement on loneliness measures, some do not. But even groups that do not have 'addressing loneliness' as a core function can nevertheless do that; for example, people who took part in health-maintaining and independence-maintaining behaviours were less likely to feel isolated and more likely to feel that their community was a good one to grow old in. 115 A systematic review of groups from art to exercise to writing found that 95 per cent of the participants (mean age of 80) reported that their feelings of loneliness were reduced. 116

### **Community engagement**

This encourages people to use existing community programmes, such as libraries, civic participation, and volunteering. 117 Again, studies show that these can improve loneliness and change lifestyles. 118

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust has set up a programme looking at how community activities could contribute to the well-being of people at risk of or experiencing loneliness and how they could play a central role in activities, thereby enhancing community well-being. 119 They found that having a key individual to motivate, train, and encourage individuals within a community to interact and get others engaged can be very important. Having 'insider' knowledge of the community and especially of the culture and any cultural or religious barriers to engagement, and speaking the language of people living there also helps encourage engagement.

An area for further research is whether spirituality can prevent loneliness from turning into depression. 120

### One-on-one interventions

For frail or housebound older people, group participation is not an option. In addition, some people prefer individual rather than group interactions. Various studies have shown that one-to-one interventions can be very effective in reducing loneliness and the associated negative health and well-being effects. 121

# **Befriending**

Befriending has been defined as 'an intervention that introduces the client to one or more individuals, whose main aim is to provide the client with additional social support through the development of an affirming, emotion-focused relationship over time.'122 The intervention differs between programmes, but usually involves volunteers or paid workers visiting an individual in their own home (or place of care) or telephoning on a regular basis. There is good evidence that befriending can have positive outcomes, including reducing depression. 123 124

An evaluation<sup>125</sup> of the Age UK telephone befriending service 'Call in Time', in which a volunteer makes weekly phone calls to an assigned older person, found that recipients reported many benefits from the service:

The older people said they valued the ability to talk, listen and share information with another human being who they felt they could trust and rely. This contact provided them with a sense of belonging, made them feel more confident and less alone and anxious.

However, many felt that the service should not be called 'befriending.' People wanted a normal conversation, and did not want to be 'problematised.'

Other key benefits older people said about the service:

- They feel they are not forgotten.
- They know they have a friend who cares who is not family.
- They know they have a friend who is trustworthy and reliable.
- They have greater peace of mind.
- They can engage in ordinary conversation.
- They no longer feel a burden to society.
- Their emotional and physical health is improved.
- Their general well-being and quality of life is improved.

Benefits were also reported by the volunteers who made the calls. They had a high level of satisfaction and said that the volunteering increased their self-confidence and interpersonal skills, and had a raised awareness of needs and opportunities within the community.

### **Gatekeeping (Community Navigator or Wayfinder initiatives)**

These "are usually volunteers who provide 'hard-to-reach' or vulnerable people with emotional, practical and social support, acting as an interface between the community and public services and helping individuals to find appropriate interventions." <sup>126</sup> Provision depends on locality and need, and could be, for example, face-to-face visits or telephone calls to discuss what the older person needs, and what is available in the community.

Some studies have shown that that Wayfinder and Community Navigator services are effective at finding socially isolated and lonely people, who became less lonely and socially isolated following contact.127 128

Another example is the Village Agent programme enacted by South Lakeland Age UK. Trained Village Agents know their community and the resources and services available. They visit older people in their homes and provide social interaction, plus help identify and arrange for things the client needs, such as a GP visit, transportation, and so forth. Village Agents can also spot potential hazards in the home, and suggest and arrange handyperson visits to fix or adapt the home as needed.

#### Internet

Interventions focusing on internet use have had mixed results. For example, one evaluation in Finland and Slovenia that taught older people to use the internet to keep in touch with others, such as through email, was shown to have the potential to reduce loneliness. 129

Despite the lack of clear cut evidence, the weight of evidence shows that internet use helps older people to combat social isolation and there is some good evidence of its positive effects on loneliness. <sup>130</sup>

Those older people who do possess IT skills could be part of the solution; one study which piloted projects in Denmark, Finland, Italy and Spain has looked at new services and infrastructure that public authorities will be able to develop in collaboration with external businesses using older people themselves as active content providers, viewing them as a resource who can provide their own everyday life support services.<sup>131</sup>

In future, when a greater proportion of this age group is connected online, opportunities will arise for identifying those at risk of loneliness, along the lines of an app 'EmotionDiary' which has already been developed for identifying those using Facebook who are depressed.<sup>132</sup>

# Interventions for special groups

#### Men

Loneliness is reported by around 5-7 per cent of older men. Research has shown that social isolation, loneliness, and stressful social ties are common in men and associated with poor physical and mental health, higher risk of disability, poor recovery from illness and early death. 133

But finding social activities that are acceptable by older men is a challenge. Older men are less likely to join groups and find making friends more difficult than older women. <sup>134</sup> They are also more likely to prefer to interact with people more similar to themselves, such as other men. <sup>135</sup>

In addition, there can be a strong perception among older men that social organisations specifically for older people are places where one is 'done to', rather than places that facilitate active pursuits. <sup>136</sup>

Participation in work-like activities can give men a sense of achievement and belonging. Studies demonstrate that successful interventions for which facilitate learning new skills, using/improving acquired skills, sharing knowledge with peers, promote a sense of accomplishment, and provide opportunities social engagement in a fun and engaging manner.<sup>137</sup>

One example is a programme called 'Men in Sheds,' which began in Australia and now has groups in the US, Canada, Ireland, and the UK:

The core elements of Men's Sheds are that they are voluntary and social organisations providing hands-on activities for men aged 50 years of age and older who are coparticipants in a defined space. Sheds provide a space for older men to meet, socialise, learn new skills and take part in activities with other men. Most Sheds are equipped with a range of workshop tools. Shed programmes aim to improve men's physical, emotional, social and spiritual health and well-being. The role of a Shed in encouraging and engaging men in informal adult learning activity is thought to be particularly important. Some Sheds also provide health related information and 'signpost' men to relevant services. In almost all cases, they are tailored to their local context, rather than being standardised.<sup>138</sup>

An evaluation of the UK pilots found: 139

- A number of older men noted that prior to coming to the Shed they were predominately sedentary.
- Participation helped raised health awareness through formal presentations by external people and informal chats amongst the older men.
- Participants indicated that it provided vital support, provision of connect to other men, mental and cognitive stimulation.
- Participants indicated that it retuned a sense of purpose, achievement and self-worth.

### **Government policy**

Several studies highlight the fact that changes in circumstances of the life course in relation to social exclusion can begin to occur in middle age, and that policies to prevent or address social exclusion should be based around the concept of ageing rather than being targeted specifically at older people. One study suggests that campaigns to de-stigmatise loneliness should be run, emphasising the support available. 140

Loneliness should be a topic of concern to the newly established Health and Well-being Boards as loneliness increases the need for social care services and residential care.

One study advocates the development of a widowhood strategy - a specific set of strategies and policies to help older people adjust to the loss of a partner. <sup>141</sup>

The Local Government Association has developed a 'Framework for Action' which identifies three tiers of actions: at the strategic level across local authorities; at the level of the community; and at the level of the individual.<sup>142</sup>

# 6 What are the challenges and barriers?

# Difficulties in finding lonely older people

The first challenge is getting to older people who need help with loneliness. People who are socially isolated are, by definition, hard to reach and identify. Another problem is that loneliness is largely stigmatised, so people are less willing to self-identify as being lonely.

One way is to identify people with the risk factors for loneliness, such as people who have recently experienced bereavement, or who have limiting health problems.

The most promising tool for identifying hotspots where prevalence of loneliness is highest is the Age UK tool produced in conjunction with the Office for National Statistics (see above, pages 4 and 5). Other attempts to map risk geographically have so far only mapped isolation rather than loneliness.

A couple of projects mentioned in the earlier 'Interventions' section try to address this: Wayfinders and Community Navigators.

Other avenues for identifying those vulnerable to loneliness could be organisations which interact with older people; for example, local councils hold data on those living alone based on records on reduced council tax for single occupancy, and groups such as social services, charities, local welfare groups, bereavement counselling services, faith organisations, substance misuse support groups,

and GPs will encounter people who are lonely or at risk of chronic loneliness. However, these agencies will only reach those who are already engaged with the services or groups. An added obstacle is that many of the risk factors and predisposing circumstances are not recorded in official records.

Outreach programmes are required to reach the 'socially excluded' as they do not, by definition, have access to the institutions and structure used by the 'socially included'. These could make use of telephone surveys and knocking on doors. Face-to-face contact in these programmes is an important factor in helping combat loneliness, especially for those who have problems interacting with groups or are housebound. 143 Another suggestion is to advertise services through mass media, leaflets at places people might frequent such as libraries and GP surgeries, and mass mail-outs. 144

GPs could be in the best position to provide anticipatory care, as they should be aware of the patients' personal circumstances - for example, health (based on frequency/patterns of presentation by patients) or bereavement. 145

It has been suggested that loneliness is 'contagious' and can spread through social networks. 146 If this is the case, identifying one lonely person could lead to others - there may be a pattern to clusters of loneliness. However, social networks are now both geographical and virtual, so different approaches will be required in future to identify the structure of networks.

# **Attitudes of older people**

One study<sup>147</sup> found several barriers to older service users identifying and planning for need, which could be relevant for seeking help with loneliness:

- An attitude of 'making do' with what they have
- Not wanting to be a 'burden' on others
- Fear of admitting need and denial about the implications of ageing
- Low expectations of services and a feeling of personal responsibility for their choice of residence
- A tendency for initial reliance on community and family support
- Limited awareness of relevant local services
- Fear of external action being taken if they do express a need
- Stigma around admitting loneliness

# Health and disability

There is a complicated relationship between health and loneliness including mobility problems, longterm health conditions, sensory impairment, cognitive impairment etc.

### **Transport**

As with any group or community engagement, getting to the venue can be a problem for older people. 148

# Flexibility and choice

Older people tend not to criticise services upon which they depend. However, at least one study on loneliness interventions mentioned that some participants found services to be too rigid, for example with scheduled visits.<sup>149</sup> This is a common theme is any services for people of any age.

For barriers to older people engaging in services in general, see Age UK Engagement's published evidence review (2011). 150

### 7 The future

### What are the future trends?

It is predicted that between 2008 and 2033 there will be a 44 per cent increase in the number of 65–74-year-olds living alone, a 38 per cent increase in those aged 75–85 and a 145 per cent increase in those aged 85+. Although the proportion of people feeling lonely has remained fairly constant in the past, these figures may indicate that there might be an increase in the future.

# Gaps in the evidence base

There is little robust research on those interventions that have included Black and Ethnic Minority Elders, older people in rural areas, or the most frail and excluded, such as those living in care homes.<sup>152</sup>

We could not find any UK evaluations that included a cost/benefit analysis. However, there are a couple of articles on cost modelling.

Knapp and colleagues did a decision-modelling on the financial impact of befriending and Community Navigators. When factoring in cost savings for services and quality of life factors, they determined that befriending gave an added value of around £300 per person per year, well above the £80 cost. They estimated that the economic benefit of Community Navigators was £900 per person per year.

Pitkala and colleagues looked at savings to health services based on participated in a particular group intervention, and estimated that it saved 943 Euros per person, and only cost 62 Euros.<sup>154</sup>

### Scope for future research

Robust evaluations of programmes are needed, including cost and benefits analyses.

# **Appendix A: Social support**

'Social support' refers to one's social networks, including the quality and content of the relationships. <sup>155</sup> Social support can provide a person with information, tangible assistance, and emotional comfort. It has also been connected with the experience of loneliness. 156 157 Social networks provide the structure for connection and potential support. 158

Although loneliness is tied to one's social network, a perception of loneliness depends on how individuals view the quality of those relationships. <sup>159</sup> In fact, some argue that loneliness is a good indicator of social support quality. 160

Social support can be divided into two types: emotional and instrumental support. 161 Emotional support refers to caring and understanding from others, while instrumental support is receiving help with needs and daily activities (e.g., cooking, transport, shopping). Both types of support may be present in the same relationship. The type of support one receives also impacts on an individual's sense of loneliness, and on cognitive and mental health outcomes: emotional, rather than instrumental, support seems to be key. 162 163

Social networks and the support they offer have been shown to significantly affect the physical and mental health of older people. 164 165 166 For example, poor quality social connections and fewer social activities increase the risk of cognitive decline in people aged 65+. 167 168

It is important to note that it is not just the number of social connections or activity that has these effects, but rather the person's perceptions about the quality and satisfaction with one's relationships. 169 170 Emotional closeness is also more important than frequency of contact. 171 172

In addition, not all social relationships are positive; they can be difficult or damaging. 173 174 Some types of social networks increase risk of loneliness and mental illness, for example family-dependent with few friends or community connections.<sup>175</sup>

There is also the complexity of older people wanting to maintain a feeling of independence, not be a 'burden' to friends or family, nor use stigmatised forms of social support (such as meals on wheels). Even older people with large, positive support networks can be reluctant to utilise them for assistance with instrumental tasks such as shopping, meal preparation, and eating, because they do not want to seem reliant on assistance. <sup>176</sup> In these cases, formal support systems like assisted shopping may be more attractive.

The type of social relationships that people find satisfying have been shown to vary by gender: men seem to tend to be more satisfied with group experiences, whereas women tend to focus on the quality of one-on-one relationships. 177

A practical implication for interventions from the research is that attempts to reduce loneliness should not focus just on the quantity of social support relationships, but instead try to stimulate a few close and emotionally supportive relationships. Another suggestion is to try to de-stigmatise formal instrumental support and associated feelings of loss of control and independence they can induce. 178

Strengthening social support should be part of health and social care settings as well as in the community, because of the profound effect of loneliness on health and mental well-being, and cognitive decline.

# **Sources of social support**

The subgroups most commonly involved in providing informal support for older people are kin, friends, neighbours, and members of the community. Older people may also be in receipt of informal support from the third sector or through membership of official support groups.

### Kinship

In the hierarchy of support provision, older people cite kin as the main contributors over friends, neighbours and the local community. <sup>179</sup> <sup>180</sup> Kin can be further divided into spouse, adult children, siblings, and extended kin. While each of these groups tend to provide different types of support to older people, often kin provide more intimate care than other groups.

### Spouse

The spouse is the most immediate source of social support in proximity and reliability. <sup>181</sup> <sup>182</sup> Spouses are the most important sources of intimate closeness, companionship and well-being. <sup>183</sup> Couples are more likely to be able to provide each other with a safe, warm, and comfortable environment to live, plentiful access to healthy foods, and other activities related to well-being. Those who are married are also more likely to benefit from a greater sense of privacy. However, as in all relationships, these positive aspects of support depend on a positive relationship.

Spousal support is the most flexible, dependable, and favourable form of social assistance. To be recognised and loved is a key element of social support which no doubt serves to promote positive psychological health. It has often been shown that our mental health exerts influence over our physical health. 184 185

However, it is important to keep in mind that the availability of this support is fully conditional on the age and helping capabilities of the spouse. Characteristic of ageing, the onset of illness, and disability exert significant strain on older couples. Older people are required to provide much more hands-on, instrumental support for their spouse. As health care problems at older ages are often more chronic rather than acute, <sup>186</sup> this raises additional challenges to couples.

Other kin and networks may provide different forms of support that are affectional, material, or informational.  $^{187}$   $^{188}$   $^{189}$ 

### Adult children

In informal support provision, older people often turn to their adult children before siblings and other relations. <sup>190</sup> Following the loss of a spouse through separation or death, it is frequently the offspring of the older person who become enlisted with the primary caring responsibilities.

Children may be able to offer assistance with tasks such as shopping or house cleaning. <sup>191</sup> At the other end of the spectrum, offspring may also be providers of personal care. <sup>192</sup> Frequently, support from adult children comprises that which is emotional, concerned with companionship and household maintenance. <sup>193</sup> The support roles can vary depending on the age, health and caring demands of the older parents, the age of the care-giving children, and the social class and income of both the parents and children.

Sometimes, adult children or the older parent will move to reduce the travelling distance between themselves. In some cases cohabitation is the adopted solution, with the adult children moving in

with their older parents or vice versa. This has reduced over the last few decades; it has been argued that Northern European and Protestant countries are less likely to take up intergenerational cohabiting between older people and their adult children. 194

There may be a reluctance in older people to reside in the homes of their offspring regardless of culture, religion and societal norms. This is primarily because of the perceived caring burden that they may impose on their adult children. It is widely acknowledged in the literature that intergenerational cohabitation is normally initiated as a last resort, mostly when the subject experiences significant loss in functional independence.

### Siblings

The sibling relationship is the most prolonged of the life course. Provided one does not lose contact with a sibling, exposure could remain for a large proportion of one's life. Sibling support, especially at youngest old ages, consists mainly of emotional support and social verification. Contact rates likely vary based on the support needs of either or both siblings in addition to the proximity and caring resources available across the social tie. The fact that researchers have measured sibling contact by use of the telephone and postal service along with visits, infers that these are perhaps the most typical methods of contact.

Forms of social support at youngest and middle old ages may consist of morale boosting, assistance with shopping, home repairs, and finances, as well as advice giving and help with decisions in the role of a confidant. 195 The role of siblings as auxiliary helpers is prone to upgrade to a more primary role depending on the availability of social support elsewhere in the network for the older person in question. 196 197 In these scenarios siblings may alter their role as providers of psychological support to the mainstay of tangible support with duties including nursing and offering personal care. Older people who are childless are, of course, much more likely to rely on siblings for social support. 198

### Extended kin

'Extended kin' constitutes members of the family such as grandparents, grandchildren, aunties, uncles, nieces, nephews and so forth.

Social interaction with extended family tends to be mostly affective and dominated by traditional obligations to maintain relations with all parts of the family. This is again due to ease of access to the more proximal elements of the familial supportive network. In the UK and other Protestant European countries, extended kin do not naturally live close to (or with) one another. In more Catholic dominated countries, extended kin may be more proximal to one another. 199

### Neighbours

Informal support relationships between neighbours are characterised by reciprocity 200 201 rather than the mutual, obligatory relationships which bind relatives. The relationships between neighbours are considered to be exchange relationships. <sup>202</sup> The exchange of goods and services between neighbours becomes quid pro quo.

The role played by neighbours tends to be supplementary to existing pathways of care such as that of the family or formal services, <sup>203</sup> and can lessen the burden of care on the family. <sup>204</sup> <sup>205</sup>

Owing to the proximity of neighbours to each other, in practical terms they are the best placed to provide non-technical support. <sup>206</sup> This non-technical support can range from assistance with the shopping or transport to gardening. 207 208

In addition to instrumental support, neighbours offer the opportunity for an older person to socialise. Perhaps not quite to the extent that friendship is important, forms of social interaction over the fence and other types of social liaison can act to validate one's social identity. 209 210 211 Contact with neighbours might provide the older people with feelings of usefulness and eliminate loneliness and worry.<sup>212</sup>

Neighbours also play an important role in acting as the first line of defence in a crisis. <sup>213</sup> Critically. neighbours are able to 'sound the alarm' in an emergency. In some cases, neighbours play a surveillance role, and are vital at times of unpredictable or idiosyncratic need where fast and flexible decision making may be involved. <sup>214</sup> The presence of neighbours may reassure family and friends that their loved one is well monitored.

The age and health of the neighbour determines whether they may be able to provide support (or expect to receive support) and what the nature of that support may be. Ideally, for the continual exchange of neighbourly supportive relationships there must be a balance in reciprocity. <sup>215</sup> However, it is often likely to be the case that neighbouring supportive relationships are imbalanced due to the fact that the respective neighbours differ in age, health, and need. Reciprocation varies by the type of support and the capabilities of both persons to be able to reciprocate. <sup>216</sup> <sup>217</sup>

### **Friendship**

A friend has been defined as 'a person, not kin, with whom you feel close, talk personally and on whom you can count'. 218 It is extensively recognised in the literature that to have friends and acquaintances within one's social network is associated with higher levels of morale and life satisfaction. Possession of a confidant is connected to reduced feelings of loneliness and concern.<sup>219</sup> <sup>220</sup> However, their affectional functions are usually surpassed by spouses. <sup>221</sup>

Friends are often of a similar age, which means that age-related experiences are shared. 222 This commonality consolidates the advisory position of a friend and importantly helps to alleviate feelings of isolation when they feel that certain stresses are shared and understood through similar experiences.<sup>223</sup>

Support of friends is less likely to be instrumental. Personal care could undermine the dynamics of a social tie which had always been reciprocal.

### **Local community**

The local community consists of voluntary organisations, social groups, religious settings and the wider neighbourhood (one's neighbours as a collective). Community activity relates to attendance at local events such as religious ceremonies or celebratory occasions. An older person's voluntary involvement is an important measure not just of this facet of social network interaction, but a quantification of one's integration into his or her community.

Primarily the local community provides a source of emotional, informational, and nontechnical support, but importantly also gives rise to the opportunity for daily social interaction which may promote mental well-being. The feeling of 'neighbourhood' or 'community' gives an older person a sense of place and belonging which, in turn, might alleviate sentiments of loneliness and social isolation. <sup>224</sup>

Involvement in the local community typically represents a reciprocal exchange. This gives the older person the opportunity to socialise, maintain a sense of social validation and usefulness (in some cases offering the chance to give something back to a community from which the older individual may benefit), and receive informational advice from esteemed members of the neighbourhood. Members of the community may also play a surveillance role for older individuals with whom they are regularly acquainted; for example, noticing a decline in the physical ability of the older person.<sup>225</sup>

Community-level interaction is somewhat dependent on functional ability, which may include getting to and from an event. At ages 80 and over when typically the onset of age-related health issues may start to impede an older person's independence, a withdrawal from community activity is to be expected. However, the time invested in the community may reap reward as younger members of the community involved in voluntary work (commonly that which the older person in question may have previously been involved) may offer assistance with transport and at day centres, 'meals on wheels', house maintenance and so forth.

### **10 References**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TNS survey for Age UK, April 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These and other population estimates are calculated using the mid-2014 Population Estimates for UK, ONS, June 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> TNS survey for Age UK, April 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB. *PLoS Med* 2010;7(7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Loneliness and risk of Alzheimer disease. Wilson RS, Krueger KR, Arnold SE, Schneider JA, Kelly JF, Barnes LL, et al. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2007 Feb; 64(2):234-240

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Survey of public attitudes and behaviours towards the environment. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Survey of public attitudes and behaviours towards the environment. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Survey of public attitudes and behaviours towards the environment. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Aspirations for later life. Humphrey, A., Lee, L., and Green, R., for the Department for Work and Pensions, 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> General Lifestyle Survey 2010, table 3.3 (GB), ONS, 2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> TNS Loneliness survey for Age UK, April 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> One Voice: Shaping our ageing society, Age Concern and Help the Aged, 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> TNS Loneliness survey for Age UK, April 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Households Below Average Income 2012/13, Chapter 6, DWP, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> ICM Research survey for *One Voice*, Age Concern and Help the Aged, 2008

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Loneliness, Social Isolation and Living Alone in Later Life, C. Victor et al., 2003

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Loneliness, Social Isolation and Living Alone in Later Life, C. Victor et al., 2003

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> TNS survey for Age UK, April 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Peplau, L. A., and Perlman, D. (1982) *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy*. New York, NY: John Wiley.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Wheeler, L., Reis, H., and Nezlek, J. (1983) 'Loneliness, social interaction, and sex roles'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45, pp. 943-953.

Victor, C. (2012) 'What do you expect at your age? Loneliness and old age'. Presentation for Age UK, April 2013, accessed January 2014 <a href="http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2012/07/victor-loneliness-Plenary-July2012.pdf">http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2012/07/victor-loneliness-Plenary-July2012.pdf</a>

content/uploads/downloads/2012/07/Victor-Loneliness-Plenary-July2012.pdf
 Cacioppo, J; Patrick, W (2008) Loneliness: Human Nature and the Need for Social Connection. New York:
 Norton

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Cattan, M. (2002) *Supporting Older People to Overcome Social Isolation and Loneliness*, London: Help the Aged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Victor, C., et al., (2003) *Loneliness, Social Isolation and Living Alone in Later Life*, London: ESRC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> GfK/ NOP Help Unite Generations (HUG) survey for Help the Aged, 2005

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> ICM Research survey for Age UK, December 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2011) *Survey of public attitudes and behaviours towards the environment*. London: Defra

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2011) *Survey of public attitudes and behaviours towards the environment*. London: Defra

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Hawkley, L. C., Browne, M. W., and Cacioppo, J. T. (2005) 'How can I connect with thee? Let me count the ways', *Psychological Science*, 16, pp. 798-804.

Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB (2010) 'Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review', *PLoS Med*, 7(7), DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Wilson RS, Krueger KR, Arnold SE, Schneider JA, Kelly JF, Barnes LL, et al. (2007) 'Loneliness and risk of Alzheimer disease', *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 64(2), pp. 234-240

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Philp, I. (2014) 'Perfect Ageing: The contribution of assessment', in *Services for older people – what works*, Davidson et al (Eds), pp. 40-43, London: Age UK

- <sup>33</sup> Boomsma, D., Willemsen, G., Dolan, C., Hawkley, L., and Cacioppo, J. (2005) 'Genetic and environmental contributions to loneliness in adults: The Netherlands twin register Study', Behavior Genetics, 35, 745-752.
- <sup>34</sup> McGuire, S., and Clifford, J. (2000) 'Genetic and environmental contributions to loneliness in children', Psychological Science, 11, pp. 487-491.
- 35 Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., Ernst, J. M., Burleson, M., Berntson, G. G., Nouriani, B., and Spiegel, D. (2006) 'Loneliness within a nomological net: An evolutionary perspective', Journal of Research in Personality, 40, pp. 1054-1085.
- <sup>36</sup> Cacioppo, J. T., and Patrick, W. (2008) *Loneliness: Human nature and the need for social connection,* New York, NY: Norton
- <sup>37</sup> Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., Ernst, J. M., Burleson, M., Berntson, G. G., Nouriani, B., and Spiegel, D. (2006) 'Loneliness within a nomological net: An evolutionary perspective', Journal of Research in Personality, 40, 1054-1085.
- <sup>38</sup> Campaign to End Loneliness (2011) Safequarding the Convoy, Campaign to End Loneliness website
- <sup>39</sup> Lonely Omnibus Survey, August 2012, TNS for Age UK and For Later Life report, 2013, Age UK
- <sup>40</sup> Later Life Omnibus Survey, January 2013, Age UK
- <sup>41</sup> English Longitudinal Study of Ageing, Wave 5, UCL
- <sup>42</sup> C. Victor, forthcoming, Loneliness in later life: a longitudinal analysis using the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing
- <sup>43</sup> de Jong Gierveld, J., and Kamphuis, F.H. (1985) 'The development of a Rasch-type loneliness-scale', *Applied* Psychological Measurement, 9, pp. 289-299
- <sup>44</sup> de Jong Gierveld, J., and van Tilburg, T.G. (2006) 'A 6-item scale for overall, emotional, and social loneliness: Confirmatory tests on survey data', Research on Aging, 28, pp. 582-598
- <sup>45</sup> Russell, D. (1996) 'The UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure', Journal of Personality Assessment, 66, pp. 20-40
- <sup>46</sup> Hughes et al (2004) 'A short scale for measuring loneliness in large surveys', Research on Ageing, Vol 26, No 6, pp. 655-672
- <sup>47</sup> Ryff, C., and Keyes, C. (1995) 'The structure of psychological well-being revisited', *Journal of Personality and*
- Social Psychology, 69, pp. 719–727.

  48 Rasloff, L.S. (1977) 'The CES-D Scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population', Applied Psychological Measurement, 1(3), pp.270-278
- <sup>49</sup> Hyde M., Wiggins R., Higgs P., Blane D.(2003) 'A measure of quality of life in early old age: the theory, development and properties of a needs satisfaction model (CASP-19)', Aging and Mental Health, 7, pp. 186-
- <sup>50</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>51</sup> Ferguson, L. (2011) 'The campaign to end loneliness.' Working with Older People, 15(2), pp.66-70.
- <sup>52</sup> Beaumont, J. (2013) Measuring National Well-being Older people and loneliness. Published by the Office for National Statistics. (Accessed January 2014) http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171766 304939.pdf
- <sup>53</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire
- <sup>54</sup> Beaumont, J. (2013) *Measuring National Well-being Older people and loneliness*. Published by the Office for National Statistics. (Accessed January 2014) http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171766 304939.pdf
- <sup>55</sup> Draper, P., Holloway, M., Adamson, S. (2013) 'A qualitative study of recently bereaved people's beliefs about death: implications for bereavement care', Journal of Clinical Nursing. Sep 5. doi: 10.1111/jocn.12326 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jocn.12326/abstract;jsessionid=6D740223913C9502AAA00C296B0 88ABE.f02t04?deniedAccessCustomisedMessage=anduserIsAuthenticated=false

  56 Kneale, D. (2012) Is social exclusion still important for older people? London: Age UK
- <sup>57</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>58</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>59</sup> Age UK (2013) *Later life in rural England*, London: Age UK
- <sup>60</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>61</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.

- <sup>62</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>63</sup> English Longitudinal Study of Ageing, Wave 5, UCL
- <sup>64</sup> Beaumont, J. (2013) *Measuring National Well-being Older people and loneliness*. Published by the Office for National Statistics. (Accessed January 2014) <a href="http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171766">http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171766</a> 304939.pdf
- <sup>65</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>66</sup> O'Luanaigh, C., et al. (2012) 'Loneliness and cognition in older people: the Dublin Healthy Ageing study'. *Aging and Mental Health*, 16(3), pp.347-352
- <sup>67</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>68</sup> Ekwall A.K., Sivberg B. and Hallberg T.R. (2005) 'Loneliness as a predictor of quality of life among older caregivers', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 49(1), pp. 23–32
- <sup>69</sup> Carers UK (2013) Prepared to Care? Exploring the impact of caring on people's lives (Accessed January 2014) <a href="http://www.carersweek.org/media/k2/attachments/Prepared to Care FINAL.pdf">http://www.carersweek.org/media/k2/attachments/Prepared to Care FINAL.pdf</a>
- <sup>70</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*, Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>71</sup> Victor, C., Burholt, V., and Martin, W. (2012) 'Loneliness and Ethnic Minority Elders in Great Britain: An exploratory study', *J Cross Cult Gerontol*, 27, pp. 65–78
- <sup>72</sup> Kuyper, L., and Fokkema, T. (2010) Loneliness among older lesbian, gay and bisexual adults: the role of minority stress. *Archives of sexual behaviour*, vol. 39(5), pp. 1171-1180.
- <sup>73</sup> Bolton, M. (2012), *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*, Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>74</sup> Pettigrew, S., Donovan, R., Boldy, D., & Newton, R. (2014). Older people's perceived causes of and strategies for dealing with social isolation. *Aging & mental health*, *18*(7), 914-920.
- <sup>75</sup> Kneale, D. (2012) Is social exclusion still important for older people? London: Age UK
- <sup>76</sup> Kneale, D. (2012) *Is social exclusion still important for older people?* London: Age UK
- <sup>77</sup> Kneale, D. (2012) Is social exclusion still important for older people? London: Age UK
- <sup>78</sup> Jivraj, S., Nazroo, J., and Barnes, M. (2012) 'Change in social detachment in older age in England', in: *The Dynamics of Ageing. Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing 2002-2010. Wave 5.* James Banks, James Nazroo, and Andrew Steptoe (Eds.) Chapter 3, pp. 48-83. London: The Institute for Fiscal Studies
- <sup>79</sup> Rantakokko, M., Vahaluoto, S., Portegijs, E., Viljanen, A., Iwarsson, S., & Rantanen, T. (2013). Environmental barriers are associated with loneliness in community-dwelling older people. In *The Gerontologist* (Vol. 53, No. S1, pp. 173-173). Oxford University Press.
- The State of Intergenerational Relations Today, A Research and Discussion Paper, Lloyd, ICL-UK, 2008, p.iv
- <sup>81</sup> Duane, F., Brasher, K., and Koch, S. (2013) 'Living alone with dementia'. *Dementia*, 12(1), pp.123-136.
- <sup>82</sup> Bennett, K. M. (2002) 'Low level social engagement as a precursor of mortality among people in later life' *Age and Ageing*, 31, pp. 168-168
- <sup>83</sup> Steptoe, A., Owen, N., Kunz-Ebrecht, S.R., and Brydon, L. (2004) 'Loneliness and neuroendocrine, cardiovascular, and inflammatory stress responses in middle-aged men and women', *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(5) pp. 593-611
- <sup>84</sup> Hawkley, LC, Burleson, MH, Berntson, GG, Cacioppo, JT. (2003) 'Loneliness in everyday life: cardiovascular activity, psychosocial context, and health behaviors'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85 (1), pp. 105–120
- <sup>85</sup> Bolton, M. (2012). *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>86</sup> Hawkley, LC, Cacioppo, JT. (2010) 'Loneliness matters: a theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms'. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40 (2), pp. 218–227
- <sup>87</sup> Amieva, H, Stoykova, R, Matharan, F, Helmer, C, Antonucci, TC, Dartigues, J. (2010) 'What aspects of social network are protective for dementia? Not the quantity but the quality of social interactions is protective up to 15 years later'. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 72 (9), pp. 905–911.
- <sup>88</sup> Nyman, S.R., Gosney, M.A., and Victor, C.R. (2010) 'The psychosocial impact of vision loss on older people'. *Generations Review*, 20(2). Published online.
- <sup>89</sup> Shankar, A., Hamer, H., McMunn, A., Steptoe, A. P. A. (2013) 'Social isolation and loneliness: relationships with cognitive function during 4 years of follow-up in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing', *Psychosomatic Medicine* 75, pp. 161-170

- <sup>90</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>91</sup> Dickinson, WJ, Potter, GG, Hybels, CG, McQuoid, DR, Steffens DC. (2011) 'Change in stress and social support as predictors of cognitive decline in older adults with and without depression'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26 (12), pp. 1267–1274
- Fratiglioni, L, Paillard-Borg, S, Winbladj, B. (2004) 'An active and socially integrated lifestyle in late life might protect against dementia'. *Lancet Neurology*, 3 (6), pp. 343–353
   Duncan, T, McAuley, E. (1993) 'Social support and efficacy cognitions in exercise adherence a latent growth
- <sup>93</sup> Duncan, T, McAuley, E. (1993) 'Social support and efficacy cognitions in exercise adherence a latent growth curve analysis'. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 16 (2), pp. 199–218
- <sup>94</sup> Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness*. Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>95</sup> Drageset, J., Eide, G. E., Kirkevold, M., & Ranhoff, A. H. (2013). Emotional loneliness is associated with mortality among mentally intact nursing home residents with and without cancer: a five-year follow-up study. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *22*(1-2), 106-114.
- <sup>96</sup> Griffin, J. (2010) *The lonely society?* London: Mental Health Foundation
- <sup>97</sup> Wadd, S., Lapworth, K., Sullivan, M., Forrester, D. and Galvani, S. (2011) *Working with older drinkers*. Alcohol Research UK: London (Accessed January 2014) <a href="http://alcoholresearchuk.org/2011/12/02/working-with-older-drinkers/">http://alcoholresearchuk.org/2011/12/02/working-with-older-drinkers/</a>
- drinkers/ <sup>98</sup> Imonen, S., Valvanne, J., and Pitkala, K.H. (2011) 'Older adults' own reasoning for their alcohol consumption'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(11), pp. 1169-1176.
- <sup>99</sup> Lauder, W., Mummery, K., Jones, M. and Caperchione, C. (2006) 'A comparison of health behaviours in lonely and non-lonely populations' *Pyschology, Health and Medicine* 11(2), pp. 233-245
- Newall, N., Chipperfield, J., Bailis, D., and Stewart, T. (2013) 'Consequences of loneliness on physical activity and mortality in older adults and the power of positive emotions'. *Health Psychology* 32(8), pp. 921-924 <sup>101</sup> Griffin, J. (2010) *The lonely society?* London: Mental Health Foundation
- Mellqvist Fässberg, M., van Orden, K. A., Duberstein, P., Erlangsen, A., Lapierre, S., Bodner, E. Canetto, S. S., De Leo, D., Szanto, K., and Waern, M. (2012) 'A systematic review of social factors and suicidal behavior in older adulthood'. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* March 9(3), pp. 722-745
- <sup>103</sup> Brennan, T., and Auslander, N. (1979) *Adolescent loneliness: An exploratory study of social and psychological predispositions and theory (Vol. 1)*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Mental Health. Juvenile Problems Division.
- <sup>104</sup> Jones, W. H., Freemon, J. R., and Goswick, R. A. (1981) 'The persistence of loneliness: Self and other determinants'. *Journal of Personality*, 49, pp. 27-48.
- Moore, J. A., and Sermat, V. (1974) Relationship between self-actualization and self-reported loneliness. *Canadian Counsellor*, 8, pp. 194-196.
- Jones, W. (1982) 'Loneliness and social behavior'. In L. A. Peplau and D. Perlman (Eds.), *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research and therapy* (pp. 238-254). New York, NY: John Wiley.
- <sup>107</sup> Horowitz, L. M. (1983) *The toll of loneliness: Manifestations, mechanisms, and means of prevention*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Mental Health, Office of Prevention.
- Masi, C.M., Chen, H.-Y., Hawkley, L.C., and Cacioppo, J.M. (2011) 'A meta-analysis of interventions to reduce loneliness'. *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 15(3), pp. 219 –266.
- <sup>109</sup> Cattan, M. et al. (2007) *Group Activities Help Older People Out of Loneliness and Isolation*, London: Help the Aged.
- <sup>110</sup> Cattan, M. (2002) *Supporting Older People to Overcome Social Isolation and Loneliness*, London: Help the Aged.
- <sup>111</sup> Cattan, M. et al. (2007) *Group Activities Help Older People Out of Loneliness and Isolation*, London: Help the Aged.
- <sup>112</sup> Afshar, H., Franks, M., and Maynard, M. (2002) *Women, Ethnicity and Empowerment in Later Life*, London: ESRC.
- <sup>113</sup> Cattan, M., et al. (2005) 'Preventing Social Isolation and Loneliness among Older People: A systematic review of health promotion interventions', *Ageing and Society*, 25, pp. 41–67.
- <sup>114</sup> Quilgars, D. (2000) *Low Intensity Support Services: A systematic literature review*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation
- <sup>115</sup> Humphrey, A., Lee, L., and Green, R. (2011) *Aspirations for later life*, London: Department for Work and Pensions.

- <sup>116</sup> Savikko, N., et al. (2010) 'Psychosocial group rehabilitation for lonely older people: favourable processes and mediating factors of the intervention leading to alleviated loneliness'. *International Journal of Older People Nursing*, vol 5, no 1, pp. 16–24.
- <sup>117</sup> Windle, K., Francis, J. and Coomber, C. (2011) *Research briefing 39: preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes*, London: SCIE.
- <sup>118</sup> Windle, K., Francis, J. and Coomber, C. (2011) *Research briefing 39: preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes*, London: SCIE.
- <sup>119</sup> Collins, AB and Wrigley, J. (2014) Can a neighbourhood approach to loneliness contribute to people's well-being? London: JRF and JRHT. <a href="http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/loneliness-evaluation">http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/loneliness-evaluation</a>
- Han, J. and Richardson, V.E. (2010) 'The relationship between depression and loneliness among homebound older persons: does spirituality moderate this relationship?' *Journal of Religion and Spirituality in Social Work*, 29(3), pp.218-236.
- Windle, K., Francis, J. and Coomber, C. (2011) *Research briefing 39: preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes*, London: SCIE.
- Mead, N. et al. (2010) 'Effects of befriending on depressive symptoms and distress: Systematic review and meta-analysis,' *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol 196, no 2, pp. 96–100.
- Butler, S.S. (2006) 'Evaluating the Senior Companion Program: a mixed-method approach', *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, vol 47 (1-2), pp. 45–70.
- Mead, N. et al. (2010) 'Effects of befriending on depressive symptoms and distress: Systematic review and meta-analysis', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol 196, no 2, pp. 96–100.
- <sup>125</sup> Cattan, M, Kime, N., and Bagnall, A-M. (2009)*Low-level support for socially isolated older people: An evaluation of telephone befriending*. London: Help the Aged.
- Windle, K., Francis, J. and Coomber, C. (2011) *Research briefing 39: preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes*, London: SCIE.
- <sup>127</sup> Findlay, R.A. (2003) Interventions to reduce social isolation amongst older people: where is the evidence? *Ageing and Society*, vol 23, no 5, pp. 647–658.
- Windle, G. et al. (2008) *Public health interventions to promote mental well-being in people aged 65 and over: systematic review of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness*. Bangor: Institute of Medical and Social Care Research.
- <sup>129</sup> Blažuna, H., Sarantob, K., and Rissanenb, S. (2012) 'Impact of computer training courses on reduction of loneliness of older people in Finland and Slovenia'. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28 (4), pp. 1202–1212.
- <sup>130</sup> Lelkes, O (2013) 'Happier and Less Isolated: Internet Use in Old Age', *Journal of Poverty and Social Justice* Vol. 21 (1): pp.33-36.
- <sup>131</sup> Kalviainen, M. (2012) 'Elderly as content providers in their everyday life supporting services'. Presentation at the Cumulus Helsinki conference (Accessed January 2013)
- $\frac{http://cumulushelsinki2012.org/cumulushelsinki2012.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/Elderly-as-content-providers-in-their-everyday-life-supporting-services.pdf$
- Park, S. et al. (2013) 'Activities on Facebook reveal the depressive state of users'. *Journal of Med. Internet Research*, vol 15, no 10, e217. doi: 10.2196/jmir.2718 (Accessed January 2014)
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3806432/

  133 Milligan, c., Dowrick, C., Payne, S, et al (2013) 'Men's Sheds and other gendered interventions for older men: improving health and well-being through social activity. A systematic review and scoping of the evidence base'. Unpublished report for the Liverpool-Lancaster Collaborative (LiLaC) and Age UK
- Milligan, c., Dowrick, C., Payne, S, et al (2013) 'Men's Sheds and other gendered interventions for older men: improving health and well-being through social activity. A systematic review and scoping of the evidence base'. Unpublished report for the Liverpool-Lancaster Collaborative (LiLaC) and Age UK
- Pettigrew, S., Donovan, R., Boldy, D., & Newton, R. (2014). Older people's perceived causes of and strategies for dealing with social isolation. *Aging & mental health*, *18*(7), 914-920.
- <sup>136</sup> Arber, S., and Davidson, K. (2003) *Older Men: Their social worlds and healthy lifestyles*, London: ESRC <sup>137</sup> Milligan, c., Dowrick, C., Payne, S, et al (2013) 'Men's Sheds and other gendered interventions for older men: improving health and well-being through social activity. A systematic review and scoping of the evidence base'. Unpublished report for the Liverpool-Lancaster Collaborative (LiLaC) and Age UK
- <sup>138</sup> Milligan, c., Dowrick, C., Payne, S, et al (2013) 'Men's Sheds and other gendered interventions for older men: improving health and well-being through social activity. A systematic review and scoping of the evidence base'. Unpublished report for the Liverpool-Lancaster Collaborative (LiLaC) and Age UK

- <sup>139</sup> Milligan, C. et al (2012) *Evaluation of the Men in Sheds Pilot Programme Final Report*, Faculty of Health and Medicine, commissioned by Age UK
- <sup>140</sup> Hole, K. (2011) *Loneliness compendium*. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Accessed online 15/01/14 at <a href="http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/loneliness-compendium-examples-research-and-practice">http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/loneliness-compendium-examples-research-and-practice</a>
- 141 Kneale, D. (2012) Is social exclusion still important for older people? London: Age UK
- Local Government Association (2012) Combatting loneliness: a guide for local authorities. London: LGA
- <sup>143</sup> Griffin, J. (2010) *The lonely society?* London: Mental Health Foundation
- <sup>144</sup> Campaign to End Loneliness (2015) Hidden citizens: How can we identify the most lonely older adults? CtEL
- <sup>145</sup> Dow, C. et al. (2011) Enabling health and well-being in later life mapping Scottish policies, programmes and initiatives. Report prepared for the Scottish Collaboration for Public Health Research and Policy. University of Stirling. Accessed online January 2014 at <a href="http://www.nm.stir.ac.uk/documents/enabling health and well-being">http://www.nm.stir.ac.uk/documents/enabling health and well-being in later life</a> Final Report March2011.pdf
- <sup>146</sup> Griffin, J. (2010) *The lonely society?* London: Mental Health Foundation
- <sup>147</sup> Connors, C., Kenrick, M., and Bloc, A. (2013) *Impact of an ageing population on service design and delivery in rural areas*. Published by TNS BMRB and the International Longevity Centre UK on behalf of Defra. (Accessed January 2014)
- http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=MenuandModule=MoreandLocation=NoneandCompleted=Oan dProjectID=18501

  148 Greaves, C.J. and Farbus, L. (2006) 'Effects of creative and social activity on the health and well-being of
- <sup>148</sup> Greaves, C.J. and Farbus, L. (2006) 'Effects of creative and social activity on the health and well-being of socially isolated older people: outcomes from a multi-method observational study', *The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, vol 126, no 3, pp. 133–142.
- <sup>149</sup> Butler, S.S. (2006) 'Evaluating the Senior Companion Program: a mixed-method approach', *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, vol 47 (1-2), pp. 45–70.
- <sup>150</sup> Age UK (2011) Engaging with Older People Evidence Review, London: Age UK
- Bolton, M. (2012) *Loneliness: the state we're in: a report of evidence compiled for the Campaign to End Loneliness.* Abingdon: Age UK Oxfordshire.
- <sup>152</sup> Windle, K., Francis, J. and Coomber, C. (2011) *Research briefing 39: preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes*, London: SCIE.
- <sup>153</sup> Knapp, M. et al. (2010) *Building community capacity: making an economic case, PSSRU Discussion Paper 2772*. London: PSSRU.
- <sup>154</sup> Pitkala, K.H. et al. (2009) 'Effects of psychosocial group rehabilitation on health, use of health care services, and mortality of older persons suffering from loneliness: a randomised, controlled trial', *Journal of Gerontolgy: Medical Sciences*, vol 64A, no 7, pp. 792–800.
- <sup>155</sup> Rokach A. (2011) 'From loneliness to belonging: A review'. *Psychology Journal*, 8, pp. 70–81.
- <sup>156</sup> Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., Ernst, J. M. and Spiegel, D. (2006) 'Loneliness within a nomological net: An evolutionary perspective'. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 40, pp. 1054–1085.
- <sup>157</sup> Schmitt, J. P. and Kurdek, L. A. (1985) 'Age and gender differences in and personality correlates of loneliness in different relationships', *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49, pp. 485–496.
- <sup>158</sup> Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I., and Seeman, T. E. (2000) 'From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium'. *Social Science and Medicine*, 51, pp. 843-857.
- <sup>159</sup> Rokach A (2011) 'From loneliness to belonging: A review', *Psychology Journal*, 8, pp. 70–81.
- <sup>160</sup> S. Bernardon, K.A. Babb, J. Hakim-Larson, M. Gragg. (2011) 'Loneliness, attachment, and the perception and use of social support in university students', *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science Revue Canadianne Des Sciences Du Comportement*, 43 (1), pp. 40–51.
- <sup>161</sup> Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I., and Seeman, T. E. (2000) 'From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium'. *Social Science and Medicine*, 51, pp. 843-857.
- <sup>162</sup> Amieva, H, Stoykova, R, Matharan, F, Helmer, C, Antonucci, TC, Dartigues, J. (2010) 'What aspects of social network are protective for dementia? Not the quantity but the quality of social interactions is protective up to 15 years later', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 72 (9), pp. 905–911.
- <sup>163</sup> Ellwardta, N., Aartsenb, M., Deegb, D., and Steverink, N. (2013) 'Does Ioneliness mediate the relation between social support and cognitive functioning in later life?' *Social Science and Medicine*, 98, pp. 116–124. <sup>164</sup> Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I., and Seeman, T. E. (2000) 'From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium'. *Social Science and Medicine*, 51, pp. 843-857.
- <sup>165</sup> Seeman, T. E., Lusignolo, T. M., Albert, M., and Berkman, L. (2001) 'Social relationships, social support, and patterns of cognitive aging in healthy, high-functioning older adults: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging'. *Health Psychology*, 20, pp. 243-255.

- <sup>166</sup> Unger, J. B., McAvay, G., Bruce, M. L., Berkman, L., and Seeman, T. (1999) 'Variation in the impact of social network characteristics on physical functioning in elderly persons: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging', *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 54B, pp. S245-S251.
- <sup>167</sup> Zunzunegui, M. V., Kone, A., Johri, M., Beland, F., Wolfson, C., and Bergman, H. (2004) 'Social networks and self-rated health in two French-speaking Canadian community dwelling populations over 65,' *Social Science and Medicine*, 58, pp. 2069-2081
- <sup>168</sup> Ellwardta, N., Aartsenb, M., Deegb, D., and Steverink, N. (2013) 'Does loneliness mediate the relation between social support and cognitive functioning in later life?' *Social Science and Medicine*, 98, pp. 116–124.
- <sup>169</sup> Berkman, L. F., Glass, T., Brissette, I., and Seeman, T. E. (2000) 'From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium'. *Social Science and Medicine*, 51, pp. 843-857.
- <sup>170</sup> Ryan, A. K., and Willits, F. K. (2007) 'Family ties, physical health, and psychological well-being', *Journal of Aging and Health*, 19, pp. 907-920.
- Drageseta, J. Kirkevoldb, M., Espehauga, B. (2011) 'Loneliness and social support among nursing home residents without cognitive impairment: A questionnaire survey', *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, Volume 48, Issue 5, pp. 611–619.
- <sup>172</sup> Segrina, C and Passalacquaa, SA. (2010) 'Functions of loneliness, social support, health behaviors, and stress in association with poor health', *Health Communication*, Volume 25, Issue 4, pp. 312-322.
- <sup>173</sup> Bushman, B. B., and Holt-Lunstad, J. (2009) 'Understanding social relationship maintenance among friends: Why we don't end those frustrating friendships'. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 28, pp. 749-778.
- <sup>174</sup> Rook, K. S. (1997) 'Positive and negative social exchanges: Weighing their effects in later life', *Journal of Gerontology: Social Sciences*, 52B, pp. S167-S1169.
- Wenger, G. (1997, November.' Social networks and the prediction of elderly people at risk', *Aging and Mental Health*, 1, pp. 311-320.
- <sup>176</sup> Quinn, L. 'An investigation into the factors affecting eating habits in older people living at home'. 2013. Unpublished report as part of a Master's Thesis in Public Health/Health Promotion at Leeds Metropolitan University.
- <sup>177</sup> Stokes, J., and Levin, I. (1986) 'Gender differences in predicting loneliness from social network characteristics', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51, pp. 1069-1074.
- <sup>178</sup> Quinn, L.' An investigation into the factors affecting eating habits in older people living at home'. 2013. Unpublished report as part of a Master's Thesis in Public Health/Health Promotion at Leeds Metropolitan University.
- <sup>179</sup> Scott, A and Wenger, G; (1995) 'Gender and Social Support Networks in Later Life,' In Arber, S and Ginn, J (Eds.) *Connecting Gender and Ageing: A Sociological Approach*, London: Open University Press.
- <sup>180</sup> Shanas, E. (1979) 'The family as a social support system in old age,' *Gerontologist* Vol. 19 (2), pp. 169-174. <sup>181</sup> Hoyt, D. and Babchuk, N. (1983) 'Adult kinship networks: The selective formation of intimate ties with kin,' *Social Forces*, Vol. 62, pp. 84-101.
- <sup>182</sup> Quinn, W and Hughston, G. (1984) *Independent Aging: Family and Social Perspectives*, Aspen Systems Corp. <sup>183</sup> Sauer, W. and Coward, R. (1985) *Social Support Networks and the Care of the Elderly*, Springer Publishing
- Company.
- <sup>184</sup> Clarke, P. (2008) 'What is the Reciprocal Relationship between Mental and Physical Health over the Adult Life Course, *Gerontologist*, Vol. 48, pp. 513-513.
- Rakel, R., Stuart, M., Liebermann, J., and Liebermann III, J. (1993) *The Fifteen Minute Hour: Applied Psychotherapy for the Primary Care Physician*, Greenwood Press.
- <sup>186</sup> Sauer, W. and Coward, R. (1985) *Social Support Networks and the Care of the Elderly*, Springer Publishing Company.
- <sup>187</sup> Crossman, L., Landon, C., and Barry, C. (1981) 'Older Women Caring for Disabled Spouses: A Model for Supportive Services, *Gerontologist*, Vol. 21, pp. 464-470.
- <sup>188</sup> Sauer, W. and Coward, R. (1985) *Social Support Networks and the Care of the Elderly*, Springer Publishing Company.
- 189 Shanas, E. (1979) 'The family as a social support system in old age,' *Gerontologist* Vol. 19 (2), pp. 169-174.
- <sup>190</sup> Hoyt, D. and Babchuk, N. (1983) 'Adult kinship networks: The selective formation of intimate ties with kin,' *Social Forces*, Vol. 62, pp. 84-101.
- <sup>191</sup> Van Houtven, C., and Norton, E. (2004) 'Informal Care and Health Care Use of Older Adults,' *Journal of Health Economics*, Vol. 23 (6), pp. 1159-1180.
- Romoren, T. (2003) 'The Carer Careers of Son and Daughter Primary Carers of their Very Old Parents in Norway,' *Ageing and Society*, Vol. 23, pp. 471-485.

- <sup>193</sup> Sussman, M. and Burchinal, L. (1972) 'Kin Family Network: Unheralded Structure in Current Conceptualizations of Family Functioning,' In Neugarten, B (Ed.) Middle Age and Aging, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- lacovou, M. (2000) Living Arrangements of Elderly Europeans, Working Paper, Institute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex

  195 Sauer, W. and Coward, R. (1985) Social Support Networks and the Care of the Elderly, Springer Publishing
- Company.
- <sup>196</sup> Allan, G. (1977) 'Sibling solidarity,' Journal of Marriage and the Family, Vol. 39, pp. 177-184.
- <sup>197</sup> Cicirelli, V. (1979) Social Services for the Elderly in Relation to the Kin Network, Report to the NRTA-AARP Andrus Foundation.
- <sup>198</sup> Johnson, C., and Catalano (1981) 'Childless elderly and their family supports,' *Gerontologist*, Vol. 21, pp. 610-618.
- <sup>199</sup> Iacovou, M. (2000) *Living Arrangements of Elderly Europeans*, Working Paper, Institute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex
- <sup>200</sup> Batson, C. (1993) 'Communal and Exchange Relationships: What is the Difference?' Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, Vol. 19 (6), pp. 677-683.
- Thomese, F., Tilburg, T. and Knipscheer, K. (2003) 'Continuation of Exchange with Neighbours in Later Life: The Importance of the Neighbourhood Context,' Personal Relationships, Vol. 10, pp. 535-550.
- <sup>202</sup> Mills, J. and Clark, M. (1982) 'Exchange and Communal Relationships,' In Wheeler, L (Ed.), Review of Personality and Social Psychology (pp. 121-145), Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- <sup>203</sup> Qureshi, H. and Walker, A. (1998) *The Caring Relationship: Elderly People and Their Families*, Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Lowenthal, M. and Robinson, B. (1976) 'Social Networks and Isolation,' In Binstock, R. and Shanas, E. (Eds.) Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences, New York: Van Nostrand Rheinhold.
- <sup>205</sup> Sauer, W. and Coward, R. (1985) Social Support Networks and the Care of the Elderly, Springer Publishing Company.
- <sup>206</sup> Sauer, W. and Coward, R. (1985) Social Support Networks and the Care of the Elderly, Springer Publishing
- <sup>207</sup> Bamford, C., Gregson, B., Farrow, G., Buck, D., Dowshell, T., McNamee, P., and Bond, J. (1998) 'Mental and Physical Frailty in Older People: The Costs and Benefits of Informal Care,' Ageing and Society, Vol. 18 (3), pp. 317-354.
- Wenger, G. (1984) *The Supportive Network: Coping with Old Age*, London: George Allen and Unwin.
- Lee, G. and Ihlinger-Tallman, M. (1980) "Sibling Interaction and Morale: The Effects of Family Relations on Older People,' Research on Aging, Vol. 2, pp. 367-391.
- <sup>210</sup> Spakes, P. (1979) 'Family, Friendship and Community Interaction as Related to Life Satisfaction of the Elderly,' Journal of Gerontological Social Work, Vol. 1 (1), pp. 33-45.
- Wood, V., and Robertson, J. (1978) 'Friendship and Kin Interaction: Differential Effect on the Morale of the Elderly,' Journal of Marriage and the Family, Vol. 40, pp. 367-375.
- <sup>212</sup> Arling, G. (1976) 'The Elderly Widow and Her Family, Neighbours and Friends,' Journal of Marriage and the Family, Vol. 38 (4), pp. 757-768.
- Wenger, G. (1990) 'The Special Role of Friends and Neighbours,' Journal of Aging Studies, Vol. 4 (2), pp. 149-
- <sup>214</sup> Dono, J., Falbe, C., Kail, B., Litwak, E., Sherman, R., and Siegel, D. (1979) 'Primary Groups in Old Age: Structure and Function,' Research on Aging, Vol. 1, pp. 403-433.
- <sup>215</sup> Thomese, F., Tilburg, T. and Knipscheer, K. (2003) 'Continuation of Exchange with Neighbours in Later Life: The Importance of the Neighbourhood Context,' Personal Relationships, Vol. 10, pp. 535-550.
- <sup>216</sup> Stephens, M. and Bernstein, M. (1984) 'Social Support and Well-Being among Residents of Planned Housing,' Gerontologist, Vol. 24, pp. 144-148.
- Youmans, E. (1962) 'Leisure Time Activities of Older Persons in Selected Rural and Urban Areas of Kentucky,' Lexington, KY: Progress Report 115, Kentucky Agricultural Experiment Station
- Block, J. (1980) *Friendship*, New York: Macmillan Publishing Co.
- <sup>219</sup> Arling, G. (1976) 'The Elderly Widow and Her Family, Neighbours and Friends,' *Journal of Marriage and the* Family, Vol. 38 (4), pp. 757-768.
- <sup>220</sup> Whittaker, J. and Garbarino, J. (1983) Social Support Networks: Informal Helping in the Human Services, Hawthorne, NY: Aldine Publication. Co.
- <sup>221</sup> Atchley, R. (1980) *The Social Forces in Later Life*, Belmont, CA: Wadsworth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Stueve and Gerson, 1977

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Arling, G. (1976) 'The Elderly Widow and Her Family, Neighbours and Friends,' *Journal of Marriage and the* Family, Vol. 38 (4), pp. 757-768.

224 Phillipson, C., Bernard, M., Phillips, J., and Ogg, J. (2001) *The Family and Community Life of Older People*,

Routledge. <sup>225</sup> Whittaker, J. and Garbarino, J. (1983) *Social Support Networks: Informal Helping in the Human Services*,

Hawthorne, N.Y: Aldine Publication. Co.

Robinson, B., and Regnier, V. (1980) 'Informal Services Provided by Business and Community Organizations: An Investigation of Existing Nonservice Supports,' Presented at the 33rd Annual Meeting of the Gerontological Society, San Diego, CA